
 Agenda

Page 1

Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities

Time and Date
11.30 am on Tuesday, 16th June 2020

Place
This meeting will be held remotely. The meeting can be viewed live by pasting this link 
into browser: https://youtu.be/TNBnZ6BFPIk

Public Business

1. Apologies  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 8)

(a) To agree the minutes of the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities 
meeting held on 9th March 2020

(b) Matters arising

4. Temporary Procedure Rules for Council Meetings  (Pages 9 - 18)

Report of the Director of Law and Governance

5. Outstanding Issues  

There are no outstanding issues

6. Any Other Business  

To consider any other items of business which the Cabinet Member decides to 
take as a matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.

Private Business
Nil

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House, Coventry

Monday, 8 June 2020

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Tel: 024 7697 2643   Email: 
michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/TNBnZ6BFPIk


Page 2

Membership: Councillors P Akhtar (Deputy Cabinet Member), A Andrews (Shadow 
Cabinet Member) and AS Khan (Cabinet Member)

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR if you would like this information in another format or 
language, please contact us.

Michelle Salmon
Governance Services 
Tel: 024 7697 2643
Email: michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities held at 

9.30 am on Monday, 9 March 2020

Present:
Members:  Councillor A S Khan (Chair)

 Councillor A Andrews (Shadow Cabinet Member)
Employees (by 
Directorate):
Place: P Jennings, J Newman, C Sinclair 

Apologies: Councillor P Akhtar 

Public Business

24. Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest. 

25. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2020 were signed as a true 
record.

26. Proposed Changes to the Constitution 

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Chief Executive which set out 
proposed changes to the Constitution, as considered by the Constitutional 
Advisory Panel at its meeting on 19 November 2019.

These were: 

(a) Revisions to the Conference and Travel Protocol: Part 4E of the 
Constitution

(b) Revisions to the Rules for Contract: Part 3G
(c) Revisions to the Financial Procedure Rules: Part 3F
(d) Audit and Procurement Committee Terms of Reference: Part 2I 
(e) Protocol for Conferring the Title of Honorary Alderman 
(f) Code of Conduct for Elected and Co-opted Members: Part 4A
(g) Licensing and Regulatory Committee Terms of Reference: Parts 2F and 2M

These changes were set out in detail in Appendices 1 to 7 of the report, including 
the required tracked changes to the Constitution.

The Advisory Panel had agreed all the proposed revisions with the following 
exceptions or additions: 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



– 2 –

 Travel and Conference Protocol: The Advisory Panel recommended that, 
once drafted, officers submit a new policy on conference and travel to 
Ethics Committee for approval.

 Rules for Contract: The proposal to reduce the frequency of reports on the 
activities of the Procurement Board to the relevant Cabinet Member from 
every 6 to every 12 months was not approved. The Advisory Panel 
recommended that this continues to be made every 6 months. (Rule 9.2). In 
addition, officers will speak to the Chair of Audit and Procurement 
Committee to seek their agreement to remove the requirement to make an 
annual report to the Committee on procurement. 

 Finance Procedure Rules:  The Advisory Panel recommended that a 
proviso be inserted so that where a grant bid will require match funding by 
the Council, there should be a requirement to seek the approval of the 
Cabinet Member and that footnote 6 in the table of financial thresholds 
should read “following consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member(s)”.

 Protocol for Conferring the Title of Honorary Alderman: The Advisory 
Panel recommended that Paragraph 2 d) be amended to increase the 
minimum service required as a Member from 15 to 20 years. 

Following consideration of the report, the Cabinet Member agreed the 
recommendations of the Advisory Panel with one exception in respect of the 
Protocol for conferring the title of Honorary Alderman in that the minimum service 
required as a Member not be increased to 20 years, but to remain at 15 years. 

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities 
recommends to Council that: 

(1) With regard to the Conference and Travel Protocol, agree that:

(a) The Conference and Travel Protocol be removed from the 
Constitution;

(b) Officers be authorised to produce a policy for the 
approval of conference and travel costs for members and 
officers;

(c) Once drafted, the policy be approved by Ethics 
Committee;

(d) A register of travel and conference attendance costing 
more than £500 and all travel outside of the UK be 
maintained and published; and

(e) The register of travel and conference costs be scrutinised 
by Ethics Committee twice a year.

Page 4



– 3 –

(2) Subject to the continued inclusion of the requirement for a six-
monthly report to the relevant Cabinet Member in Rule 9.2, and 
to officers speaking to the Chair of Audit and Procurement 
Committee to seek their agreement to remove the requirement to 
make an annual report to the Committee on procurement, 
approval be given to the proposed revisions to Part 3G of the 
Constitution (Rules for Contract) set out in Appendix 2 to this 
report.

(3) With regard to the Financial Procedure Rules:

(a) Where a grant bid requires match funding by the Council, 
there should be a mandatory requirement to seek the 
approval of the relevant Cabinet Member;

(b) Footnote 6 to the table of financial thresholds be 
amended to read “Following consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member(s); and 

(c) Subject to (3)(a) and (3)(b) above, approval be given to the 
proposed revisions to Part 3F of the Constitution set out 
in Appendix 3 to this report.

(4) In relation to amending paragraph 8.5 of the Audit and 
Procurement Committee’s Terms of Reference:

(a) Authority be delegated to the Monitoring Officer and City 
Solicitor to remove all reference to severance packages 
from the paragraph on the enactment of The Restriction of 
Public Sector Payments Regulations: and

(b) Approval to be given to the reference to “salary over 
£100,000” being amended to “salary level for a new post 
over £100,000”.

(5) With regard to the Protocol for Conferring the Title of Honorary 
Alderman or Alderwoman, approval be given to the Protocol for 
Conferring the Title of Honorary Alderman or Alderwoman being 
amended as detailed in Appendix 5 of the report and with the 
minimum service required as a Member remaining at 15 years.

(6) Approval to be given to the proposed revisions to Part 4A of the 
Constitution (Code of Conduct for Elected and Co-opted 
Members) as set out in Appendix 6 of the report be approved

(7) Approval to be given the proposed revisions to Part 2F and 2M of 
the Constitution (Functions of Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee and Scheme of Delegation to Employees) as set out 
in the Appendix 7 of the report.

(8) The Monitoring Officer be authorised to make any necessary 
amendments to the Constitution arising from recommendations 
(1) to (7). 

Page 5



– 4 –

27. Proposed Changes to the Constitution Part 2M - Scheme of Functions 
Delegated to Employees and Appointment of Proper Officers 

The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Chief Executive which sought 
approval to required amendments to the Constitution as a result of the deletion of 
the post of Deputy Chief Executive (Place) from April 2020 and a move to a new 
corporate landscape reflecting the One Coventry approach. 

As a result of these changes to the Council structure, the scheme of delegation to 
officers and other officer functions, including the designation of proper officers, 
currently provided for within the City Council’s Constitution need to be updated 
and amended.
 
The report sought approval to the required amendments to the Constitution to 
reflect the new Council structure and to designate the post of Director of Law and 
Governance as the Monitoring Officer and City Solicitor and the post of the 
Director of Finance as the Section 151 Officer.  

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities recommend 
that, with effect from 1 April 2020, the City Council:

1) Designates the post of Director of Law and Governance as the City 
Solicitor and Monitoring Officer (Section 5, Local Government Act 
1972) and as the Proper Officer for the purposes of the Registration 
Services Act 1953

2) Designates the post of the Director of Finance as Chief Finance 
Officer under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972;

3) Approves the transfer of functions set out in paragraphs 6.6.01 to 
6.6.109 from the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) to the Deputy Chief 
Executive

4) Approves the appointment of the Director of Law and Governance as 
Proper Officer for the purposes of functions relating to meetings, 
reports, agendas and minutes of formal meetings of the Council 
(paragraph 6.6.70) and deposit of documents (paragraph 6.6.104).

5) Authorises the Director of Law and Governance to amend the 
Constitution accordingly.

28. Outstanding Issues 

There were no outstanding issues. 

Page 6



– 5 –

29. Any Other Items of Public Business 

There were no other items of public business. 

(Meeting closed at 9.39 am)

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



  
Public report

Cabinet Member Report
 

Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities 16 June 2020

Council                                                                                                                         16 June 2020 

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities - Councillor AS Khan 

Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Law and Governance 

Ward(s) affected: All

Title: Temporary Procedure Rules for Council Meetings 

Is this a key decision? 
No 

Executive Summary: 

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority 
Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 provide local 
authorities with the legal power to hold remote meetings in place of physically present meetings. 
The Regulations override any earlier legislation which requires elected members to be in the 
meeting venue in order to be classed as present and modify other legal requirements in 
connection with meetings such as being open to the public and the provision of online meeting 
papers only.  The Regulations are temporary, being in effect until 7 May 2021 unless extended. 

There is no legal requirement for local authorities to update their meeting standing orders or 
procedure rules, but it is good practice for the Constitution to reflect how the Council is 
conducting its business. It is therefore proposed that the Temporary Procedure Rules set out in 
the Appendix to this report should be adopted by the Council. 

The Rules are based on ones published by Lawyers in Local Government and the Association of 
Democratic Services Officers. The continuing need for these Rules will be reviewed regularly. 

Recommendations:

Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities is recommended to: 

(1) Recommend to Council that it adopts the Temporary Procedure Rules set out in the 
Appendix to this report. 

 Council is recommended to:

(1) Adopt the Temporary Procedure Rules set out in the Appendix to this report. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



2

List of Appendices included: 

Temporary Procedure Rules 

Background Papers

None

Other useful background papers: 

None 

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  

No 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No 

Will this report go to Council?

Yes - 16 June 2020

Page 10



3

Report title: Temporary Procedure Rules for Council Meetings 

1. Context (or background)

1.1 The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020 
provide local authorities with the legal power to hold remote meetings in place of physically 
present meetings. The Regulations override any earlier legislation which requires elected 
members to be in the meeting venue in order to be classed as present and modify other 
legal requirements in connection with meetings such as being open to the public and the 
provision of online meeting papers only.  The Regulations also apply notwithstanding any 
prohibition or other restrictions contained in the Council’s standing orders.   The 
Regulations are temporary, being in effect until 7 May 2021 unless extended.

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 There is no legal requirement for local authorities to update their meeting standing orders 
or procedure rules, but it is good practice for the Constitution to reflect how the Council is 
conducting its business. Having the temporary procedures set out in the Constitution will 
provide transparency and allows both elected members and members of the public to have 
certainty about how remote meetings will operate in the short to medium term. 

2.2 Regulation 5 of the 2020 Act allows local authorities to make other standing orders and any 
other rules governing the meeting about remote attendance at meetings.  This may include 
provision for—

(a)  voting;
(b)  member and public access to documents; and
(c)  remote access of public and press to a local authority meeting to enable them to 

attend or participate in that meeting by electronic means, including by telephone 
conference, video conference, live webcasts, and live interactive streaming.

2.3 It is therefore proposed that the Temporary Procedure Rules set out in the Appendix to this 
report should be adopted by the Council. The new Rules may operate until 7 May 2021 and 
will be reviewed before then to ensure that they are still relevant. Once approved, the Rules 
will be published on the Council’s website. 

2.4 Recommendations
  

Cabinet Member for Policing and Equalities is recommended to: 

(1) Recommend to Council that it adopts the Temporary Procedure Rules set out in the 
Appendix to this report. 

 Council is recommended to:

 (1)  Adopt the Temporary Procedure Rules set out in the Appendix to this report. 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 There has been no consultation on the proposed Temporary Procedure Rules because the 
changes reflect a change in the law. 

Page 11



4

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 If approved, the changes will take effect immediately.

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance  

5.1 Financial implications

There are no direct financial implications arising from the proposal. 

5.2 Legal implications

Regulation 5 of the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility 
of Local Authority Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2020 allows local authorities to make standing orders which reflect the procedure for 
remote meetings. 

6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Local Area 
Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?

The proposals do not directly contribute to the Council’s key objectives and corporate 
priorities but do so indirectly by clarifying procedures around how decision making will be 
made in the short to medium term. 

6.2 How is risk being managed?

N/A

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

N/A

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

It is recognised that moving to remote meetings may reduce some sections of the 
community’s ability to engage with and watch council meetings, especially people without 
access to the internet. Where members of the public are entitled to participate in meetings, 
they will be given the opportunity to submit written representations or to dial in via 
telephone if they prefer or are unable to join through Teams. 

6.5 Implications for (or impact on) Climate Change and the environment

N/A

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

N/A 

Page 12



5

Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Carol Bradford
Corporate Governance Lawyer 

Service: 
Law and Governance

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 7697 7271
Email: carol.bradford@coventry.co.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approve
r name

Title Service Area Date doc 
sent out

Date 
response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Suzanne Bennett Governance Services 

Co-ordinator
Law and 
Governance 

03.06.20 04.06.20

Adrian West Members and Elections 
Team Manager

Law and 
Governance 

27.05.20 02.06.20

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(officers and members)
Graham Clark Finance Officer Finance 03.06.20 03.06.20
Julie Newman Director of Law and 

Governance  
Law and 
Governance 

27.05.20 03.06.20

Councillor AS Khan Cabinet Member Policing 
and Equalities 

- 06.06.20 06.06.20

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings 

Page 13

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/meetings


6

Appendix

Temporary Council Procedure Rules

A Introduction and Application 

1. These Temporary Procedure Rules provide the means and 
guidance
for the conduct of any remote meeting of the Council, Cabinet, 
Cabinet Members, Scrutiny Boards and Committees and Sub-
Committees, held under the provisions of The Local Authorities and 
Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local 
Authority Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2020 No.392 (‘the Regulations’).

2. The Procedure Rules should be read in conjunction with the 
Council Procedure Rules, Cabinet Procedure Rules, Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules and Access to Information Procedure Rules within 
the Council’s Constitution and the Planning Committee Procedure 
Rules and Licensing and Regulatory Committee Procedure Rules 
which sit outside the Constitution.

3. The Regulations, made under section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 
2020, apply notwithstanding any other legislation or current or pre-
existing Procedure Rules or any other rules of the Council 
governing meetings and remain valid until 7th May 2021.This 
means that, wherever there is a conflict, these Temporary Council 
Procedure Rules take precedence in relation to any remote 
meeting.

4. Detailed protocols setting out how remote meetings will be run, 
meeting etiquette, public participation and observation have been 
produced for the benefit of elected members, officers and members 
of the public. They suit outside the Constitution and can be found 
on the Council’s website. 

B Annual Meeting 

5. The requirement to hold an Annual Meeting is to be disregarded 
and, prior to 7 May 2021, an Annual Meeting of Council may only 
take place:

(a) where called by the Chair; or

(b) following a resolution calling for an Annual Meeting being 
passed at an ordinary or extraordinary meeting of Council

    C Remote Access to Information 

6. For all purposes of the Constitution, the terms “notice”, “summons”, 
“agenda”, “report”, “written record” and “background papers” when 
referred to as being a document that is:

Page 14



7

(a) “open to inspection” shall include for these and all other 
purposes as being published on the website of the council; and

(b) to be published, posted or made available at offices of the 
Council shall include publication on the website of the Council.

    D Remote Access to Meetings

7. (a)  For all purposes of the Constitution the term “meeting” is not 
limited in meaning to a meeting of persons all of whom, or any 
of whom, are present in the same place, for which purposes 
any reference to:

(i)  “place” is to be interpreted as where a meeting is held, or to 
be   held, includes reference to more than one place 
including electronic, digital or virtual locations such as 
internet locations, web addresses or conference call 
telephone numbers: and

(ii)  “open to the public” includes access to the meeting being 
through remote means including (but not limited to) video 
conferencing, live webcast, and live interactive streaming 
and where a meeting is accessible to the public through 
such remote means the meeting is open to the public 
whether or not members of the public are able to attend the 
meeting in person; and

(b)  If the Chair is made aware that the meeting is not accessible to 
the public through remote means, due to any technological or 
other failure of provision, then the Chair shall adjourn the 
meeting immediately. If the provision of access through remote 
means cannot be restored within a reasonable period, then the 
remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed 
by the Chair. If he or she does not fix a date, the remaining 
business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.

    E   Members in Remote Attendance 

    8. (a) A Member in remote attendance is present and attends the 
meeting, including for the purposes of the meeting’s quorum, if 
at any time all three of the following conditions are satisfied, 
those conditions being that the Member in remote attendance is 
able at that time:

(i)  to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, 
where practicable, be seen by, the other Members in 
attendance;

(ii) to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, 
where practicable, be seen by, any members of the public 
entitled to attend the meeting in order to exercise a right to 
speak at the meeting; and

Page 15



8

(iii) to be so heard and, where practicable, be seen by any other
members of the public attending the meeting.

(b)  A Member in remote attendance will be deemed to have left the 
meeting where, at any point in time during the meeting, any of 
the conditions for remote attendance contained in (a) above are 
not met. In such circumstance the Chair may, as they deem 
appropriate;

(i) adjourn the meeting for a short period to permit the conditions 
for remote attendance of a Member contained in (a) above to 
be re-established;

 (ii) count the number of Members in attendance for the purposes 
of the quorum; or

 (iii) continue to transact the remaining business of the meeting 
in the absence of the Member in remote attendance.

    F Remote Attendance by Members of the Public

   9. (a) A member of the public entitled to attend the meeting in order 
to exercise a right to speak at the meeting is in remote 
attendance at any time if all three of the following conditions 
are satisfied, those conditions being that the member of the 
public in remote attendance is able at that time:

(i) to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, 
where practicable, be seen by, Members in attendance;

(ii) to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, 
where practicable, be seen by, any other members of the 
public entitled to attend the meeting in order to exercise a 
right to speak at the meeting; and

(iii) to be so heard and, where practicable, be seen by any 
other members of the public attending the meeting.

(b) A member of the public in remote attendance will be deemed to 
have left the meeting where, at any point in time during the 
meeting, any of the conditions for remote attendance contained 
in Temporary Procedure Rule 9(a) above are not met. In such 
circumstance the Chair may, as he or she deems appropriate:

(i) adjourn the meeting for a short period to permit the 
conditions for remote attendance contained in Temporary 
Procedure Rule 9(a) above to be re-established;

(ii) suspend consideration of the item of business in relation to 
the member of public’s attendance until such time as a 
following item of business on the agenda has been 
transacted and the conditions for the member of the public’s 
remote attendance have been re-established or, on 

Page 16



9

confirmation that this cannot be done, before the end of the 
meeting, whichever is the earliest; or

(iii) continue to transact the remaining business of the meeting 
in the absence of the member of the public in remote 
attendance.

    G Remote Voting 

 10. Unless a recorded vote is demanded, which may be confirmed by 
the requisite number of Members confirming the demand orally 
when requested by the Chair, the Chair will take the vote:

(a) by use of the electronic voting system (Raise Hand) or;

(b) by the affirmation of the meeting if there is no dissent; or

(c) the Chair will take the vote by roll-call and the number of votes 
for or against the motion or amendment or abstaining from 
voting will be recorded.

     H Members Excluded from the Meeting

11. Where a Member is required to leave the meeting, the means of 
remote attendance and access is to be severed whilst any 
discussion or vote takes place in respect of the item or items of 
business in which the member or co-opted member may not 
participate.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Temporary Procedure Rules for Council Meetings

